• INTRODUCTION

This is a peti tion for review of a reversal of a summary 

final judgment based on this Court's conflict jurisdiction. 

Petitioner, FIREMAN'S FUND INSURANCE COMPANY ("Fireman's Fund"), 

is contemporaneously submitting an appendix. 

Record references contained in this brief are designated "R" 

followed by a page number reference. References to petitioner's 

appendix are designated "AA" followed by a page number reference. 

All emphasis in this brief is supplied unless otherwise 

noted. 

• 
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• STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS 

This appeal arises from the entry of a summary final judg­

ment in favor of all defendants in a declaratory judgment action 

wherein the trial court ruled that no uninsured motorist coverage 

was available to the respondent as a matter of law (R. 184). 

Respondent, GEORGE W. POHLMAN d/b/a GEORGE POHLMAN SHELL 

SERVICE AND INDUSTRIAL PARK SHELL, was insured with petitioner, 

Fireman's Fund, pursuant to a Commercial-Gard Portfolio Insurance 

Policy. The inception date was March 1, 1979 and the expiration 

date was March 1, 1982 (AA. 1-2). This commercial lines policy 

included property coverage, general liability coverage, certain 

optional coverages, and both business auto and garage keepers 

liability (AA. 1-18). 

The respondent, George W. Pohlman, had a separate policy of 

insurance with another company insuring his motorcycle that was 

involved in the accident at issue (AA. 19). Mr. Pohlman rejected 

uninsured motorist coverage on the motorcycle (AA. 19-20). 

Further, the respondent did not believe he had uninsured motorist 

coverage on the motorcycle with Fireman's Fund (AA. 21). 

Mr. Pohlman had two other motorcycles, each of which were 

insured wi th other insurance companies, and each of which had 

minimum uninsured motorist limits available (AA. 22-23). 

On February 13, 1982, respondent was injured in an accident 

when the motorcycle he was operating collided with an automobile 

(R. 114) • The driver of the automobile was insured for bodily 
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~	 injury liability with policy limits of $10,000.00/$20,000.00 (R. 

114) • At the time of the accident, George Pohlman owned three 

other vehicles which were insured by Fireman's Fund (R. 114). 

That policy provided $500,000.00/$1,000,000.00 limits of 1iabi1­

ity for bodily injury and $25,000.00 stated uninsured motorist 

limits on each vehicle (R. 114). 

The respondent and his wife brought this action against 

Fireman's Fund, et ale seeking determination of availability of 

uninsured motorist coverage under the Fireman's Fund policy for 

injuries sustained by George Pohlman in a motor vehicle accident 

(R.� 113-119). 

Respondents alleged that they were entitled to stack unin­

sured� motorist coverages on the three vehicles (R. 116). 

Alternatively, it was alleged that in the event a knowing~ 
rejection of higher limits was made, respondent was at least 

entitled to stack the $25,000.00 uninsured motorist coverage (R. 

116) • Petitioner denied respondents were entitled to uninsured 

motorist coverage at all. Nei ther the stacking issues nor the 

knowing rejection issue were resolved by the trial court, because 

the court ruled that there was no coverage under the Fireman's 

Fund policy. 

It is undisputed that the Fireman's Fund policy was issued 

on March 1, 1979 for a three year term (R. 51-52). During the 

policy term, the premium was rerated annually. On February 27, 

1981, petitioner notified the respondent that an additional pre­

~
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~	 mium of $3,669.00 would be due for the period of March 1, 1981 to 

Ma r chI, 1982 (R. 172). 

The essence of the trial court's holding was that this was a 

three year contract, and under F1a.Stat. §627. 4132 (1976), re­

spondents had no uninsured motorist coverage under the Fireman's 

Fund policy for an accident involving an owned motorcycle neither 

listed nor insured under the Fireman's Fund policy (R. 184). The 

court further found that the insurance had an inception date of 

March 1, 1979, and expired on March 1, 1982 (R. 184). The court 

held that §627.4l32 (1976) applied to the case because the stat­

ute was in effect at the time the contract was entered into. As 

a result, the court ruled that the petitioners were entitled to 

summary final judgment since there was no uninsured motorist 

~ coverage applicable to the motor vehicle accident in question (R. 

184) • 

In reversing the summary final judgment, the Third District 

Court of Appeal held that uninsured motorist coverage was avail­

able to respondents under the Fireman's Fund policy. The court 

reasoned that the exclusion was unenforceable as against public 

policy, but certified that its decision is in conflict with 

Metropoli tan Property and Liabili ty Insurance Company v. Gray, 

446 So.2d 216 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984) (AA. 28-29). 

~
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• ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

WHETHER THE DECISION SOUGHT TO BE REVIEWED, 
WHICH HAS BEEN CERTIFIED TO BE IN CONFLICT 
WITH METROPOLITAN PROPERTY AND LIABILITY 
INSURANCE COMPANY V. GRAY, 446 So.2d 216 
(Fla. 5th DCA 1984), SHOULD BE REVERSED ON 

THE BASIS THAT APPLICATION OF FLORIDA 
STATUTES S627.4l32 (1980) UNCONSTITUTIONALLY 
IMPAIRS THE CONTRACTUAL OBLI GATIONS BETWEEN 
THE PARTIES, CONTRACTED FOR PRIOR TO THE 
ENACTMENT OF THE AMENDED STATUTE, IN VIOLA­
TION OF ARTICLE I, SlO, OF THE FLORIDA 
CONSTITUTION • 

•� 
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• SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

The Third District Court of Appeal certified that its deci­

sion in the instant case is in conflict with a decision by the 

Fi fth Di str ict Cour t of Appeal. These cases involve precisely 

the same legal issue and virtually identical facts. Therefore, 

pursuant to Article V, §§3(b) (3) and (4) of the Florida Constitu­

tion, this Court has jurisdiction to resolve the conflict. 

The insurance policy in question was issued in 1979 and was 

a three year policy (AA. 1, 2). Although the accident involved 

in this case post-dated the 1980 amendment to §627.4132, 

F1a.Stat., the amendment cannot be applied to a contract of in­

surance entered into prior to the effective date of the amendment 

of S627.4132, because the Legislature did not manifest the intent 

• that the statute have retroactive effect, and to allow its appli­

cation to the subject insurance contract would be an unconstitu­

tiona1 impairment of the parties' contractual obligations. 
'. 

Therefore, §627. 4132 (1976) controls this 1i tigation and autho­

r izes the insurer to exclude from uninsured motor i st coverage 

injuries sustained as a result of the negligence of an uninsured 

motorist when the "insured" was operating an owned motorcycle 

neither listed nor insured under the Fireman's Fund policy. 

Like the Gray case, supra, the modifications here did not 

constitute either the renewal of the policy in question nor were 

they of such a magni tude as to amount to a new contract. The 

decision of the Third District turned solely on the application 

• of the 1980 amendment to a pre-existing insurance contract. 
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• The issue of knowing rejection of uninsured motorist limits 

equal to liability limits was not decided by the trial court. 

ARGUMENT 

THE DECISION SOUGHT TO BE REVIEWED SHOULD BE 
REVERSED BECAUSE APPLICATION OF FLORIDA STAT­
UTES §627.4l32 (1980) UNCONSTITUTIONALLY IM­
PAIRS THE CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS BETWEEN THE 
PARTIES, CONTRACTED FOR PRIOR TO THE ENACT­
MENT OF THE AMENDED STATUTE, IN VIOLATION OF 
ARTICLE I, §10 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION 

The Florida Supreme Court "[m] ay review any decision of a 

district court of appeal that expressly and directly con­

flicts with a decision of another district court of appeal " 

• 
or where the district court of appeal certifies the decision 

n ••• to be in direct conflict with a decision of another district 

court of appeal." Fla. Const., Art. V, §§3 (b) (3) and (4) 

(amended� March 11, 1980). Excelsior-Insurance Co. v. Pomona Park 

Bar & Package Store, 369 So.2d 938 (Fla. 1979). In the instant 

case, the Third District Court of Appeal allowed the retroactive 

application of a statutory amendment based on State Farm Mutual 

Automobile Ins. Co. v. Gant, 460 So.2d 912 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984). 

Since Gant and the Third District's opinion in the present case 

directly conflict with the Fifth District Court of Appeal's de­

cision in Metropolitan Property and Liability Ins. Co. v. Gray, 

446 So.2d 216 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984), this Court has jurisdiction to 

review the instant decision. Alternatively, this Court has 

jurisdiction to resolve the conflict because both the Second and 
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~	 Third District Courts of Appeal have certified their decisions to 

be in conflict with Gray. 

In Gant, supra, a negligent driver's automobile hit two 

children. At the time of the accident, the children's father 

carried two automobile insurance policies with the defendant 

insurance company. One policy clearly provided uninsured motor­

ist coverage, which the defendant insurance company paid pursuant 

to a settlement agreement. The father sought a declaratory judg­

ment allowing him to stack the second policy on the first, giving 

additional uninsured motorist coverage. The Gant court applied 

Fla.Stat. §627.4l32 (1980), allowing the insured to stack the 

uninsured motorist coverage. 

The Legislature first enacted §627.4l32 in 1976, prohibiting 

~ stacking of automobile insurance coverage. In 1980, however, the 

Legislature amended the statute so that it no longer prohibited 

stacking of uninsured motorist coverage. The defendant insurance 

company contended that because the insurance policy was renewed 

pr ior to the 1980 amendment, the amended statute could not be 

retroactively applied to the pre-existing contract without uncon­

stitutionally impairing the obligations of the contract. The 

court disagreed, holding that this was not retroactive applica­

tion of the statute, but current application to an existing con­

tract. 

Gray, supra, presented a very similar factual situation. 

Prior to Fla.Stat. §627.4l32's 1980 amendment, the plaintiff had 
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~	 entered into an automobile insurance contract with the defendant 

insurance company. The contract provided, inter alia, uninsured 

motorist coverage and contained an "anti-stacking" provision. 

After the statute's 1980 amendment, but before the policy's re­

newal date, a passenger covered by the policy was involved in an 

accident with an under insured driver. The trial court declared 

that the amended statute invalidated the policy's anti-stacking 

provision. The Fifth District Court of Appeal reversed, holding 

that statutory changes occurring between renewals cannot be in­

corporated into the policy wi thout unconsti tutionally impair ing 

the parties' contract obligations. 

The Gant and Gray~ decisions are based on factual situations 

virtually indistinguishable from those in the instant case. In 

~ each case, the accident occurred after the statute's amendment 

but prior to the policies' renewal. 

The exclusion involved in this case is the following: 

The insurance does not apply to: 

3.� Bodily injury sustained by you or any 
family member while occupying or struck 
by any vehicle owned by you or any 
family member which is not a covered 
auto. (AA. 24). 

This� limiting clause was made possible by the Legislature in 1976 

when it� enacted Fla.Stat. §627.4l32 (Supp. 1976), which states: 

If an� insured or named insured is protected 
by any type of motor vehicle insurance policy 
for liability, uninsured motorist, personal 
injury protection, or any other coverage, the 
policy shall provide that the insured ~ 
named insured is protected only to the extent 

~
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• of the coverage he has on the vehicle in­
volved in the accident. However, if none of 
the insured's or named insured's vehicles is 
involved in the accident, coverage is avail­
able only to the extent of coverage on any 
one of the vehicles wi th applicable cover­
age. Coverage on any other vehicles shall 
not be added to or stacked upon that cover­
age. This section shall not apply to reduce 
the coverage available by reason of insurance 
policies insuring different named insureds. 

Following the enactment of §627.4l32, a conflict arose among the 

decisions of the District Courts of Appeal interpreting and 

applying this statute. Allstate Insurance Company v. Alvarez, 

414 So.2d 224 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982): Indomenico v. State Farm Mutual 

Automobile Insurance Co., 388 So.2d 29 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980): State 

Farm Automobile Insurance Co. v. Wimpee, 376 So.2d 20 (Fla. 2d 

DCA 1979): cert. denied, 358 So.2d 763 (Fla. 1980): and State 

•� Farm Automobile Insurance Co. v. Kuhn, 374 So.2d 1079 (Fla. 3d 

DCA 1979). The Supreme Court of Florida resolved the conflict in 

New Hampshire Insurance Group v. Harbach, 439 So.2d 1383 (Fla. 

1983). The issue before the Court in Harbach concerned the 

validity of an exclusion in an automobile insurance policy which 

denied uninsured motorist coverage to an insured who was injured 

while operating his own uninsured motor vehicle. The District 

Court of Appeal in Harbach held that the uninsured motorist 

statute in effect at the time the case arose prohibited such an 

exclusion in an insurance contract. Adopting the reasoning, in 

Wimpee and in Kuhn, the Supreme Court reversed, holding that 

Fla.Stat. §627.4l32 (Supp. 1976) permitted an exclusion from 
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• uninsured motorist coverage for bodily injuries suffered by an 

•� 

insured while operating a motor vehicle which he or she owned, 

but which was not insured under the policy on which a claim was 

made. 

The Court concluded that the Legislature, by enacting 

§627.4132 in 1976, intended to and did change the rule announced 

by the Supreme Court in Mullis v. State Farm Mutual Automobile 

Insurance Co., 252 So.2d 229 (Fla. 1971), which decision applied 

F1a.Stat. §627.727 (1971), the then existing applicable uninsured 

motorist statute. Ultimately, the Supreme Court held that 

§627.4132 1imi ted the insured to the coverage contained in the 

policy covering the vehicle involved in the accident and, 

further, prohibited the stacking of coverages. 

In the case at bar, the policy of insurance was written in 

1979. At that time, Fla. Stat. § 627.4132 (Supp. 1976) was in 

effect. 

As the court noted in Kokay v. South Carolina Insurance 

Company, 380 So.2d 489 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980): 

"As worded, Section 627.4132 serves as in the 
Kuhn case, supra, and in State Farm Mutual 
Automobile Insurance Co. v. Wimpee, 376 So.2d 
20 (Fla. 2d DCA 1979), to preclude an insured 
who has not paid for the coverage on the 
vehicle in which he is injured from claiming 
the benefits of another policy." 

Effective October 1, 1980, the Legislature amended the 

statute to expressly exclude uninsured motorist coverage from its 

ambit. The Legislature specifically deleted the term "uninsured 
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~	 motorist" in the first sentence of the statute, and added a sen­

tence which reads: "This Section shall not apply to uninsured 

motorist coverage". On appeal, the respondent contended that it 

was this amendment which was dispositive in deciding whether he 

was entitled to uninsured motorist benefits under the Fireman's 

Fund policy. This position is erroneous. 

It is settled law that a statute is presumed to be prospec­

tive unless the Legislature clearly manifests a contrary inten­

tion. Cove Club Investors Ltd. v. Sanda1foot South One, Inc., 

438 So.2d 354 (Fla. 1983); State v. Lavazzo1i, 434 So.2d 321 

(Fla. 1983); Walker & LaBerge, Inc. v. Halligan, 344 So.2d 239 

(Fla. 1977); Se i tz v. Duvan County School Board, 366 So.2d 119 

(Fla. 1st DCA 1979); Lewis v. Creative Developers, Ltd., 350 

~ So.2d 828 (Fla. 1st DCA 1977). 

When the Legislature amended §627.4132 in 1980, they de­

c1ared no intent whatsoever that the statute have retroactive 

effect. Chapter 80-364, §2, Laws of Florida, provides: 

"This act shall take effect October 1, 1980." 

The format used in enacting the amendment was precisely the 

same employed when the Legislature first created uninsured motor­

ist coverage in 1961. That provision stated: 

"This act shall take effect July 1, 1961." 

Chapter 61-176, §2 
Laws of� Florida. 

Because the Insurance Commissioner for the State of Florida did 

not know whether the new enactment would apply to policies issued 
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~ prior to July 1, 1961 which had effective dates of coverage sub­

sequent to that date, he requested an opinion from the Attorney 

General. 1961 Ope Att'y Gen. Fla. 061-101 (June 19, 1961). The 

Attorney General stated: 

"It is also well settled that laws are not to 
be given a retrospective application unless 
there is clearly a legislative intent that 
they be so applied. State ex reI. Riverside 
Bank v. Green, 101 So.2d 805~ Larson v. 
Independent Life & Accident Ins. Co., 29 
So.2d 448, 158 Fla. 623: State ex reI. 
Bayless v. Lee, 23 So.2d 575, 156 Fla. 494." 

The settled rules of statutory construction clearly preclude 

the application of §627.4l32, Fla.Stat. (1980) to the Fireman's 

Fund policy. 

In Fleeman v. Case, 342 So.2d 815 (Fla. 1976), this Court 

held that the courts would not divine legislative intent for an 

~ issue as important as the retroactive application of the 

statute. This Court continued: 

"We can restrict the debate on a legislative 
'intent' for retroactivity to the floor of 
those chambers, as well as avoid judicial 
intrusions into the domain of the legislative 
branch, if we insist that a declaration of 
retroactive application be made expressly in 
the legislative under review." 342 So.2d at 
817. 

As a matter of statutory construction, this Court ruled that 

the statute was inapplicable to alter the provisions of a pre­

existing contract. The principle applies to the instant case to 

preclude coverage under the Fireman's Fund policy. 
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• The Constitution of the State of Florida, Art. I, SlO, pro­

vides that "no bill of attainder ex post facto law or law impair­

ing the obligation of contracts shall be passed." 

In Gray, supra, the insured entered into a contract for 

automobile insurance with Metropolitan Property and Liability 

Insurance Company, prior to the 1980 amendment to §627.4132. The 

policy was for a period of one year, to expire, or to be renewed, 

on July 26, 1981. The policy provided uninsured motorist and 

other coverage on three vehicles and for three named drivers, 

Richard, Nancy and Kathleen Gray. The policy specifically pro­

vided that no more than $100,000 per accident would be paid re­

gardless of the number of persons or cars insured under the 

policy. After the effective date of the statutory amendment 

• (October 1, 1980) but before the renewal date, an addi tional 

driver, James Gray, was added to the policy. Soon thereafter, 

Nancy Gray was injured in a vehicle covered under the policy and 

driven by a named insured. The trial court entered declaratory 

judgment in favor of the Grays enti tling them to stack the UM 

coverage. 

The Fifth District Court of Appeal reversed holding that 

statutory changes occurring between renewals cannot be incorpo­

rated into the policy without unconstitutionally impairing the 

obligations of the parties to the insurance contract. Gray, 

supra at 218. The court continued: 
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• But for Article I, Section 10 of the Florida 
Consti tution this issue would be merely one 
of legislative intent. However, regardless 
of the intent of the legislature, a statute 
may not, constitutionally, alter, amend or 
impair the rights of the parties to an exist­
ing contract. Thus, the amendment to Section 
627.4132 does not apply in the instant case 
unless between the effective date of the 
amendment (October 1, 1980) and the date of 
the accident (January 30, 1981), a new con­
tract was made between the parties. Id. at 
219. 

Moreover, the court reasoned that even assuming the addition of 

James Gray to the policy consti tuted a separate and severable 

contract, stacking was still prohibited because the injured party 

was a named insured on the original policy which incorporated the 

• 
statute in effect when the policy was issued. 

Petitioner submits that Gray espouses the correct position 

on the issue before this Court. Even assuming the rerating of 

the subject policy constituted the making of a new policy, be­

cause Mr. Pohlman was a named insured on the original policy the 

anti-stacking statute in effect when the policy was issued con­

troIs. Nevertheless, the motorcycle owned by Pohlman was never 

insured under the policy before this Court. Petitioner contends 

there is no coverage under the Fireman's Fund policy. 

The Second District Court of Appeal's decision in State Farm 

~M~u~t~u~a==l~A~u~t~o~m~o~b~i~l~e~I~n~s~u~r~a~n~c~e~C~o~. v~.~~G~a~n~t, 460 So.2d 912 (Fla. 2d 

DCA 1984), upon which the District Court of Appeal based its 

decision in the instant case, is in direct conflict with Dewberry 

v. Auto Owners Insurance Co., 363 So.2d 1077 (Fla. 1978), and the 
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~	 weight of law controlling the issue before this Court. In Gant, 

the court condoned retroactive application of the uninsured 

motorist statute to a pre-existing insurance contract reasoning 

that the case involved "current application of a statute to an 

existing contract." The argument is merely one of semantics by 

which the court unconstitutionally attempted to justify the im­

pairment of the obligations of the contract. As the Third Dis­

trict has stated: "It is well settled in Florida that the 

statute in effect at the time the insurance contract is executed

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