SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 67,385

FIREMAN'S FUND INSURANCE COMPANY,

Petitioner,

-vs-

GEORGE POHLMAN and LUCY POHLMAN,

Respondents.

______ S'D I WHITE SEP 3 1985 CLERK, SUPREIME COURT BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS _____ By-Chief Deputy Clerk

BETSY E. GALLAGHER TALBURT, KUBICKI, BRADLEY & DRAPER Attorneys for Respondent Suite 701, City National Bank Bldg. 25 West Flagler Street Miami, Florida 33130 Telephone: 305/374-1212

and

WILLIAM C. MERRITT MERRITT, SIKES & CRAIG 111 Southeast Third Street Miami, Florida 33130

ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

WHETHER FLORIDA STATUTE \$627.4132 (1980) IM-PAIRS THE CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS BETWEEN THE PARTIES IN VIOLATION OF ARTICLE I, \$10 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.

ARGUMENT

FLORIDA STATUTE §627.4132 (1980) DOES NOT IMPAIR THE CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS BETWEEN THE PARTIES IN VIOLATION OF ARTICLE I, §10 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.

I. <u>STATUTORY CONSTRUCTION -- THE AMENDED STATUTE IS NOT BEING</u> APPLIED RETROACTIVELY.

Petitioner argues that principles of statutory construction preclude the application of amended section 627.4132 (effective October 1, 1980) to determine the rights of the parties on February, 1982--the date of the accident. However, petitioner's Point on Appeal limits itself to review of the constitutional issue of whether the application of the amended statute impairs the contractual rights of the parties in violation of Article I, \$10 of the Florida Constitution. Petitioner did not properly raise the statutory construction argument, and it should not be considered. <u>Truxell v.</u> <u>Truxell</u>, 259 So.2d 766, 768 (Fla. 1st DCA 1972). <u>See also</u> Lynch v. Tennyson, 443 So.2d 1017, 1019 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984).

In any event, the statutory construction argument is without merit because the amended statute is not being applied retroactively. As the FIREMAN'S FUND's brief notes, chapter 80-364, §2, Laws of Florida states: "This act shall take effect October 1, 1980." The accident occurred in February, 1982, and at that time, there was no prohibition against stacking uninsured motorist coverages, and the exclusion relied upon by FIREMAN'S FUND was, again, against public policy. The exclusion relied on by FIREMAN'S FUND was previously held invalid by this Court. <u>Mullis v. State Farm</u> <u>Mutual Automobile Ins. Co.</u>, 252 So.2d 229 (Fla. 1971). This Court held the exclusion was contrary to the public policy expressed in the Financial Responsibility laws and Uninsured Motorist statute of this state. Similarly, several Florida decisions were rendered which held invalid policy provisions which prohibited stacking of uninsured motorist benefits as against public policy. <u>See, e.g., Tucker v. GEICO</u>, 288 So.2d 238 (Fla. 1973); <u>Sellers v. U.S.F.&G.</u>, 185 So.2d 689 (Fla. 1966); <u>Moreno v. Fidelity & Casualty Company</u>, 385 So.2d 127 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980).

In 1976, however, the legislature enacted Section 627.4132 which validated the type of policy exclusion involved in this case and also prohibited the stacking of coverages in certain circumstances. <u>New Hampshire Insurance Group v. Harbach</u>, 439 So.2d 1383 (Fla. 1983). After the date of the initial issuance of the FIREMAN'S FUND policy and before the date of the accident causing injury to POHLMAN, section 627.4132 was amended to remove uninsured motorist coverage from the statutory prohibition on stacking. As a recent Second District opinion notes:

The Florida Legislature intended for the amendment to once again put into effect the prior public policy regarding stacking of uninsured motorist benefits ... Staff of House Comm. on Insurance, 1980 Fla. Legislature, Reg. Sees., Report on Stacking of Uninsured Motor Vehicles, at 2 (April 28, 1980).

- 8 -

<u>Auto-Owners Insurance Co. v. Prough</u>, ____ So.2d ____ (Fla. 2d DCA 1980), 10 FLW DCA 175, 176.

Against this backdrop, the Third District Court of Appeal found that since this case involves "only ... a statutory change that again renders unenforceable as against public policy a provision of an insurance contract," the law in effect on the date of the accident properly governed the POHLMAN'S rights in this case (AA. 29).

Implicit in the holding of the court below is a finding that the 1980 deletion of uninsured motorist coverage from the operation of Section 627.4132 was remedial in nature, and therefore excluded from the general prohibition against the retroactive application of statutes. <u>Senfeld v. Bank of Nova Scotia</u> <u>Trust Co.</u>, 450 So.2d 1157 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984). A remedial statute is "designed to correct an existing law, redress an existing grievance, or introduce regulations conducive to the public good." <u>Adams v. Wright</u>, 403 So.2d 391, 394 (Fla. 1981).

In <u>Adams</u>, this Court held that Section 768.043, Florida Statutes (1977) relating to additur and remittitur in motor vehicle accident cases was remedial in nature. In making this determination, the court looked to the legislative intent expressed in subsection (3) of the statute where the legislature declared that review by the courts of awards made in motor vehicle accident cases was "in the best interests of the citizens of Florida." 403 So.2d at 394. The statute was held to be remedial in nature because it was "designed to protect the substantive rights of litigants in motor vehicle related suits." <u>Id</u>.

- 9 -

The amendment to Section 627.4132 removing uninsured motorist coverages from its operation was similarly remedial in nature. In Mullis, this Court recognized that

> The public policy of the uninsured motorist statute (Section 627.0851) is to provide uniform and specific insurance benefits to members of the public to cover damages for bodily injury caused by the negligence of insolvent or uninsured motorists and such <u>statutorily</u> <u>fixed</u> and prescribed protection is not reducible by insurers' policy exclusions and exceptions ...[emphasis in original].

252 So.2d at 233-234. See also Tucker v. Government Employees Insurance Co., 288 So.2d 238 (Fla. 1973). The 1980 amendment simply removed a legislative bar to the enforcement of the existing substantive rights of Florida's insureds entitled to recover damages from uninsured motorists; to wit, the right to receive "the reciprocal or mutual equivalent" of bodily injury protection to the extent of the coverages purchased. <u>Id.; Mullis</u>, supra. There is no question that the 1980 amendment to section 627.4132 was designed to reinstate important judicially declared public policy which is "conducive to the public good."

A remedial statute may be applied retrospectively as long as the statute or amendment does not affect vested rights or create any new obligations. <u>Senfeld v. Bank of Nova Scotia Trust</u> <u>Co.</u>, supra. In this case there are no "vested rights" which would be impaired by allowing the law in effect on the date of the accident to govern the coverage determination. Similarly, the 1980 amendment creates no additional duty or obligation. The reinstated judicially declared public policy simply renders a provision in an insurance contract again unenforceable. Finally, POHLMANS do not seek to "apply" the amended statute retroactively to govern the rights of the parties in this case. Effective October 1, 1980, the statute <u>by its terms</u> was not applicable to uninsured motorist coverage, and questions regarding uninsured motorist coverage were governed again by <u>Mullis</u> and its progeny. FIREMAN'S FUND in this case seeks to <u>extend</u> the operation of the unamended section 627.4132 beyond the time that it was "repealed" to the extent that it governed uninsured motorist coverage. On the date of the accident in this case, as far as uninsured motorist coverage was concerned, section 627.4132 was a nullity.

Petitioner's reliance upon <u>Fleeman v. Case</u>, 342 So.2d 815 (Fla. 1976) is misplaced. The statutory construction principles set forth in that case have no application in a case such as this where the statutory change is remedial in nature. <u>Senfeld</u> <u>v. Bank of Nova Scotia Trust Co.</u>, 450 So.2d 1157, 1164-65 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984). In addition, in <u>Fleeman</u>, substantive rights were affected, and the statute could not constitutionally be applied retroactively.

The Third District Court of Appeal properly determined that the law in effect on the date of the accident governs the enforceability of the exclusion relied upon by FIREMAN'S FUND, and the right of POHLMAN to stack his coverages.

- 11 -

II. THE STATUTORY CHANGE DID NOT CONSTITUTIONALLY IMPAIR THE FIREMAN'S FUND POLICY.

The application of the post-<u>Mullis</u>, pre-1976 law in this particular case does not violate Article I, Section 10 of the Florida Constitution for two distinct reasons. Initially, FIREMAN'S FUND cannot complain that the insurance contract has been impaired because the carrier had an opportunity to re-evaluate the risk on an annual basis and to change the premium accordingly. Secondly, under the "balancing test" adopted by this Court in <u>Pomponio v. Claridge of Pompano Condominium, Inc.</u>, 378 So.2d 774 (Fla. 1980), assuming <u>arguendo</u>, the presence of a technical impairment of the contract, such an impairment does not rise to the level of unconstitutionality.

Under the peculiar facts of this case, there can be no finding of an unconstitutional impairment of FIREMAN'S FUND's contract. The policy in this case was initially issued for a policy period of three years. However, FIREMAN'S FUND had an opportunity to re-evaluate the risk annually and change the premium accordingly. The record reflects that the carrier in fact re-rated the policy after the 1980 statutory change and adjusted the annual premium (A. 16). Since the carrier had written into the policy a provision allowing it to re-evaluate the risk on a periodic basis, the company had an opportunity to adjust the premium each year based on, inter alia, any statutory changes which may materially affect the risk. As a result, there can be no finding of a technical impairment of the contract. Petitioner's reliance upon <u>Dewberry v. Auto Owners</u> <u>Insurance Company</u>, 363 So.2d 1077 (Fla. 1978) is misplaced. The strict <u>Dewberry</u> rule has been replaced by a more flexible test for determining whether there has been an unconstitutional impairment of contract. Under the <u>Pomponio</u> approach, there has been no such impairment in th is case. Additionally, the rationale behind the <u>Dewberry</u> decision is not controlling in this case. The <u>Dewberry</u> case involved different facts and different public policy considerations, and is therefore distinguishable.

The test espoused by this Court in <u>Pomponio</u> requires courts to balance the extent of the technical impairment of the contract against the importance of the state's objective. This Court found that an approach similar to that used by the United States Supreme Court "is the one most likely to yield results consonant with the basic purpose of the constitutional prohibition." 378 So.2d at 780.

In <u>Pomponio</u>, this Court noted three factors to be considered in applying the balancing test used by the United States Supreme Court:

(a) Was the law enacted to deal with a broad, generalized economic or social problem?

(b) Does the law operate in an area which was already subject to state regulation at the time the parties' contractual obligations were originally undertaken, or does it invade an area never before subject to regulation by the state?

(c) Does the law effect a temporary alteration of the contractual relationships of those within its coverage, or does it work a severe, permanent, and immediate change in those relationships--irrevocably and retroactively? 378 So.2d at 779, citing <u>Allied Structural Steel Co. v. Spannaus</u>, 438 U.S. 234 (1978).

Applying this approach to the case at hand leads to the conclusion that no unconstitutional impairment has taken place.

It is clear that the 1980 amendment to section 627.4132 was enacted to deal with a "broad, generalized economic or social problem." The importance of the public policy supporting this amendment was fully set forth in Mullis v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Co., supra, and needs no further explana-Secondly, it is equally clear that the amendment operates tion. in an area already subject to state regulation. Florida's insurance industry has long been the subject of the state's exercise of its police power. The insurance code is amended frequently, and regular changes are clearly foreseeable by the carrier when it sells a policy of insurance. Finally, it is clear that the amendment in this case does not work a severe, permanent and immediate change in the contractual relationship. As stated above, the carrier in this case had an opportunity to re-evaluate the risk under the policy after the amendment in this case and to adjust the premium charged in light of the statutory changes.

On the balance, the exercise of the state's police power in reinstating the public policy of the state as expressed in <u>Mullis</u> and its progeny substantially outweighs the preservation of the contract in this case. There has been no unconstitutional impairment of the insurance contract.

In any event, petitioner's statutory and constitutional arguments have no application here because endorsements and changes to the insurance contract after October 1, 1980 constituted the issuance of a new policy which incorporated the statutory amendment to Section 627.4132 effective October 1, 1980. It is undisputed that the original policy in this case was issued on March 1, 1979 (R. 51-52). It is also undisputed that on February 27, 1981, an endorsement to the policy was issued bearing an effective date of December 1, 1980 (R. 171). This endorsement added coverage for a 1980 Chevrolet Custom Van, and imposed an additional premium (R. 171). These changes were not written into the earlier policy and were material changes.

The change in premium for the entire policy and the new provision requiring annual re-rating changed the terms of the policy. Therefore, a new contract was created. In <u>Hartford</u> <u>Accident and Indemnity Company v. Sheffield</u>, 375 So.2d 598 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979), the Third District addressed an analogous situation in determining whether a succeeding policy constituted a separate contract or a renewal. The court determined that the succeeding policy was a new contract because the terms of the policy were changed. The court noted that a change in consideration (the premium) constituted a "significant change" in the policy.

Likewise, in this case the change in premium in addition to the added endorsement were significant changes to the terms of the contract. Since the changes occurred after October 1, 1980, the exclusion relied on by FIREMAN'S is invalid, and uninsured motorist coverage under the stated limits of the

- 15 -

policy is \$75,000 per person; \$25,000 uninsured motorist coverage on each of the three vehicles is stacked for a total of \$75,000 in uninsured motorist coverage.⁴

In any event, even if the court determines that the contract applicable to this accident went into effect March 1, 1979 rather than March 1, 1981, there is no question that the endorsement which added coverage for a 1980 Chevrolet effective December 1, 1980 constituted a new and severable contract of insurance. <u>United States Fire Insurance Co. v. Van Iderstyne</u>, 347 So.2d 672 (Fla. 4th DCA 1977), cited in <u>Hartford Accident and Indemnity Company v. Sheffield</u>, supra.

In <u>Van Iderstyne</u>, the court determined that the addition of an automobile to an existing policy along with an additional premium constituted a separate and severable contract issued on the date of the endorsement. The court determined that Section 627.727, Florida Statutes which went into effect after delivery of the original policy and prior to the endorsement would be written into the new contract of insurance. <u>Id</u>. at 673.

In reaching this conclusion the court adopted the reasoning of the trial court that there were three possible interpretations of the effect of the endorsement:

"a. The endorsement relates back to the date of the issuance of the original policy ...

⁴/ The issue raised in the complaint of whether there was a knowing rejection of uninsured motorist limits equal to the \$500,000 liability limits remains. If plaintiffs did not knowingly reject the higher uninsured motorist coverage, they would be entitled to \$500,000 uninsured motorist coverage for each of the three cars listed on the policy.

b. Issuance of the endorsement constitutes a reissuance or redelivery of the entire policy

c. Issuance of the endorsement constitutes issuance of a severable and separate contract of insurance

Id. The <u>Van Iderstyne</u> court held that the third alternative was the proper interpretation. Under indistinguishable facts, the trial court in the instant case ruled that the endorsement adding an additional vehicle at an additional premium did not constitute a new contract (R. 184). This holding is clearly contrary to the holding in Van Iderstyne, and should be reversed.

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